### **Children's Ministries General Policy Manual**

### **Bethany Community Church**

#### **Table of Contents**

Children's Ministry Objectives	1
Values: T.R.A.I.N.	2
Bethany Children's Ministries Entail	3
Worker Enlistment and Screening Process	4
Volunteer and Child Protection	6
Discipline	7
Abuse Awareness	9
Abuse Reporting Procedures	11
General Emergency Guidelines	13
First Aid Procedures	13
Standard Precautions for Handling Blood/Body Fluids	17
Emergency Scenarios and Procedures at Bethany Community Church	19
Emergency Scenarios and Procedures at the Farmhouse	22

# **Children's Ministry Objectives**

Bethany Community Church cares about children and their parents. We strive to provide a nurturing, safe and secure learning environment both for the children and staff of each of our Children's Ministries. This manual seeks to provide the framework for maintaining such an environment. As we lay out these "policies" for our Children's Ministries, may we never lose sight of the goal – to glorify Jesus and worship Him through investing our lives in children.

The Children's Ministry Programs at Bethany Community Church are intended to be a resource to come alongside parents as they teach and disciple their children. Ministry programs will provide a nurturing environment that allows children to discover truths from God's Word that are fundamental to their spiritual development and will establish the foundation for a relationship with Jesus Christ. The programs will clearly present the gospel and provide Bible study, worship activities, mission experiences, and discipleship with the goal of proclaiming Christ to the children and preparing them to worship Him forever (Col 1:28-29).

### Values: T.R.A.I.N.

### Truth-based

We believe that God's word is foundational truth, and it is our heart to train every child to use it as their guide, authority, and conscience in everything.

# **R**elational

We believe that life-change happens best in the context of relationships. Gifted, godly, and passionate adults who exhibit Christ to children, their families, and each other will show kids how to do the same. It is our prayer that this modeling will impact God's Kingdom for generations to come.

# <u>A</u>dventurous

We believe that church should be fun and that the Gospel of Jesus Christ should never be presented in a boring manner. Therefore, it is our commitment to model for the children a vibrant, growing relationship with Christ and to challenge them to the same.

### **Innovative**

We believe in inspiring kids to greatness by pursuing excellence in our programs. We want to be innovative and creative while examining everything we do to make sure it remains biblical, relevant and effective.

### **N**urturing

We believe that spiritual growth and nurturing happens best in an atmosphere of emotional safety, physical security, and sanitary conditions. We are committed to exceptional standards in these areas.

# **Bethany Children's Ministries Entail**

# **Sunday Morning:**

- Sunday School (9-10am)
  - o Infants 12th Grade
- Service (10:30-11:45am)
  - Infants 2nd Grade

# Wednesday Evening:

- Awana meets on Wednesday nights during the school year and includes:
  - Cubbies 3/4 yr olds
  - Sparks K 2nd grade
  - T&T-3rd-5th
    - 6th graders have the option on Wednesday nights of attending T & T or the EDGE Middle School.
- Both EDGE Middle School (6<sup>th</sup>-8<sup>th</sup>) and IMAGE High School (9<sup>th</sup>-12<sup>th</sup>) youth groups meet on Wednesday evenings throughout the year.

### Other Events:

- Vacation Bible Camp is for a week each summer and children are typically divided by grade.
- Buddy Program assists families with kids of all ages dealing with developmental disabilities to enable the child to participate in our regular ministries by providing a buddy to assist them.
- Sunday Evening Childcare is provided for our once a month evening services for kids from nursery through 2<sup>nd</sup> grade.
- Childcare for other ministries and events such as beMom and the Bethany Biblical Counseling Conference.

# **Worker Enlistment and Screening Process**

Anyone wishing to work with children or youth at Bethany Community Church must have been a regular attender for at least six months. Some exceptions are made. One must be a regular attender for three months to be a caregiver in the nursery. On occasion this requirement may be shortened with approval by both the Staff Elder or Lay Elder assigned to Children and Youth Ministries and Area Leader. All above positions, with the exceptions of worker/caregiver, must either have joined the church through membership or have initiated that process. All children's ministry workers are screened using the following procedures:

## 1. Application

All children and youth ministry leaders and volunteers must complete the Primary Screening Form for Children or Youth Work online. You will receive an email invitation to fill out the form.

#### 2. Interview

All children and youth ministry leaders and volunteers may be interviewed by either the Staff/Lay Elder or the Area Leader in the area in which they wish to serve.

### 3. Criminal History Check

Individuals who have been arrested for, charged with, are on regular probation for, or have been convicted of sexually oriented or sex related crimes, either misdemeanor or felony, cannot serve in any area of children's ministry. Bethany Community Church will rely upon law enforcement and reference checks for this information. This check will be rerun by default every 5 years.

#### 4. Abuse Training

All children and youth ministry leaders and volunteers must complete the DCFS online training as well as watch BCC's own Oppression Training video prior to beginning to serve in our ministries. The DCFS training will need renewed every 3 years while the Oppression training will only be required once.

### 5. Age Requirements

Individuals must be 18 or older to work in the infant area of the nursery. Youth who are 13 and older may serve in the toddler nursery or Children's Church. Children younger than 13 may serve alongside their parents in the toddler room and Children's Church. Anyone wishing to work with the middle school and high school aged youth must have graduated from high school.

### - VBC

Seventh grade and older may serve. Individuals under the age of 13 will need to serve alongside their parents. Workers must be 16 years old to work in nursery, unless their parent is serving alongside them.

# - Sunday Night Service

Sixth grade and older may serve. Under age 13 will need to serve alongside their parents unless worked out before hand with childcare coordinator.

### Volunteer and Child Protection

Bethany Community Church intends to ensure the health, safety and well-being of volunteers and children. As a precaution and to ensure accountability from one adult to another, the following rules will be adhered to:

1. At least two adult volunteers should be in a ministry area at all times.

# 2. Restroom Policy

- Volunteers will routinely need to assist children in the restroom with hand washing. Only children three years or younger should need help with the toilet.
- It is our practice to do the rule of three when taking children to the bathroom.
- Boys, kindergarten and younger, who require the assistance of a volunteer in the restroom may be taken to the women's restroom by a woman. Boys who are first grade and older need to use the men's restroom only.
- A volunteer must let a hall monitor, or nearest adult, know when they are taking a child and/or children into the restroom if another volunteer is not accompanying them.
- For children who do not need assistance in the bathroom, the volunteer must check the restroom before the child enters it and then wait outside for the child.
- 3. Appropriate touch is part of a healthy ministry. Using good judgment, the following are appropriate ways to touch kids:
  - an arm around the shoulder
  - walking hand in hand
  - carrying small children piggy-back
  - short congratulatory or greeting hugs
  - assuring pat on the back or shoulder
  - handshake and high-fives

The following are ways a volunteer should NEVER touch:

- never touch a child in anger or with aggression
- never touch a child in any manner that may be construed as sexually suggestive
- never touch a child's private parts (for example: any area that would normally be covered by a swim suit)

# Discipline

Children's ministry workers are not to administer physical discipline, such as spanking. Using physical restraint to prevent a child from doing something disruptive or dangerous is permitted and may, in some instances, be necessary. Affirmation and verbal praise is always encouraged for appropriate behavior.

The guidelines we want to share with the children on Sunday mornings, Wednesday nights, and at other children's ministries events are called the "Up Rules":

- 1. Sit up Please keep your back against the back of your chair.
- 2. Listen up Please stay quiet so you and others around you can hear the teacher, and you can hear the instruction given.
- 3. Look up Please keep your eyes on the teacher so that you are not distracted or the one distracting. Please do not bring any personal items (see definition below) to class. If you realize you accidently have one in your pocket, do not take it out of your pocket. There is a likelihood that it could be temporarily taken away and given back at the end of class or given back to a parent.
- 4. Hand up Please raise your hand when you have a comment or question so that all in the room can be heard.
- 5. Zip up Please stay quiet so that the teacher can be heard, and we can all learn from God's Word.

While these rules pertain directly to the teaching time, it is also our expectation that the children will (if applicable) share toys, help with clean up, and act appropriately during snack time. If a child is not cooperating we will adhere to the following procedure:

- 1. A warning is given to the child to abide by the guidelines given at the start of class or the lesson.
- 2. If the child continues to struggle, he/she may be quietly moved to another location in the room still under teacher supervision and still hearing the lesson to help them to obey.
- 3. Next, the child may be moved away from the teaching time but still in the room or nearby for a conversation with a teacher/helper--the purpose of this is to get to the heart of the child's disobedience. After the conversation, the child would be returned to listen to the instruction time.
- 4. If the child continues to struggle, he/she will be taken to the child's parent/guardian so that the child can spend time with their home authority for further instruction. If the parent is not available (in cases like Awana or Vacation Bible Camp), the child will make a phone call for further instruction.

5. If, after talking with a parent/guardian, that adults desires the child to come back into the classroom or lesson for continued instruction in our children's ministries, this process will start over again. If the process has to be repeated the teacher/helper should make their ministry leader aware of the situation as well.

Suggestions for maintaining discipline:

- 1. Pray for your kids and your patience consistently. Ask the Lord to guide you throughout the class and to give you wisdom for each situation.
- 2. Plan your class time thoroughly. Often the best deterrent to a discipline policy is a well-planned class.
- 3. Be consistent and prompt in handling discipline problems. Discipline must be consistent to be effective. Do not threaten a consequence unless you intend to follow through. At the beginning of class it may be necessary to remind your class of the guidelines.
- 4. Seek both a resolution and reconciliation.
- 5. Acknowledge and verbally reward positive behavior. Encourage children who are behaving and following the rules.

Note: We ask that no personal items (toys, electronic devices, etc) be brought to Sunday School or Children's Church except for a Bible, writing utensil, and note-taking pad (if applicable). If parents have suggestions for items missing from the classrooms that would enhance their child's learning, please let us know. We recognize that electronic devices can contain a Bible application, but for the sake of removing temptation to use the device for other purposes and the distraction of other students, we ask that these devices be left at home on Sunday mornings. We also understand that, while a child may be at a level of maturity to be able to handle electronics in a children's ministries setting, the children around them may not be able to focus on the teaching of God's Word in light of the electronic device.

#### **Abuse Awareness**

For more info please see http://bethanycommunitychurch.org/abuse

It is very important as we care for the kids of BCC to be aware of child abuse. For the purpose of clarity we have defined terms from the Ethics & Religious Liberty Commission (ERLC) and provided possible signs from Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS):

- Child: any person under the age of 18 years.
- Physical abuse: actual or potential physical harm inflicted by another person, adult or child.
  - Possible Signs of Physical Abuse may include:
    - Some children show obvious, outward signs of abuse, such as:
      - Unexplained marks on the body (cuts, bruises, welts, burns, black eyes, fractures or dislocations)
      - Marks hidden from typically exposed areas of skin
    - Other children may show more subtle indicators, such as behavioral changes, including:
      - Extreme vigilance or watchfulness
      - Bullying smaller children
      - Poor social interactions with peers
      - Extreme fear of parents or caregivers (e.g. does not want to go home)
      - Harming animals
    - NOTE: You may notice some of these signs after a child has stopped attending for a period of time as well. However, be aware that some children will not display any overt behavioral changes.
- **Sexual abuse:** forcing or enticing a child to take part in sexual activities that he or she does not fully understand and has no choice or legal standing to give consent.
  - Possible Signs of Sexual Abuse may include:
    - sexual knowledge beyond what is age appropriate
    - recurring pain or itching in private areas
    - sexually transmitted diseases
    - frequent bladder or urinary tract infections
    - unexplained regression or fear
    - sexual acting out behaviors
    - NOTE: Some children will NOT display any overt behavioral changes.
       Sexual predators often abuse children in ways that do not leave physical signs.
- Neglect: a persistent failure to meet a child's basic physical or psychological needs. It
  includes the failure to give proper care, supervise, protect from harm, or provide for
  nutrition, shelter, and safe living conditions.
  - Possible Signs of Neglect may include:
    - Often hungry in the morning

- Poor hygiene
- Evidence of no or poor supervision
- Underweight, poor growth, failure to thrive
- Dressed inappropriately for the weather
- Erratic attendance
- Emotional abuse: persistent emotional maltreatment of a child. Emotional abuse includes
  acts such as [overbearing] restriction of movement, degradation, humiliation, bullying,
  threats, or discrimination. In addition, emotional abuse can also be found where an
  abuser controls and manipulates information so that the victim carries a distorted view of
  reality.
  - o Possible Signs of Emotional Abuse may include:
    - Being apathetic, depressed, withdrawn, passive
    - Seeming overly anxious when faced with new situations or people
    - Being disorganized
    - Being distrustful
    - Being rigidly compulsive
    - Taking on adult or parental roles and responsibilities
    - Throwing tantrums or seeming impulsive, defiant, antisocial, aggressive, or self-destructive
    - Being fearful or hyper-alert
    - Showing a lack of creativity or exploration
    - NOTE: While individually these signs may not indicate any form of Emotional Abuse, the more signs that are present would give stronger indication for concern.

### **Abuse Reporting Procedures**

If a Bethany Community Church staff, ministry leader, or volunteer has reasonable cause to suspect any form of child abuse, a timely response is expected with the utmost concern for the victim, parent, or other parties involved. The accused will be treated with dignity and support. Without evidence as described below to the contrary, we will assume such complaints are legitimate. A false claim will be taken seriously as well, with BCC making every effort to clear the name and reputation of the falsely accused. Taking into consideration all circumstances, BCC will deal with the perpetrator of false charges in a polite manner. When it becomes necessary to report actual or suspected child abuse, the protection of children must be the most important concern. It is the responsibility of any staff, ministry lead, or volunteer charged with the care of children to report all cases of child abuse he or she observes or suspects and to report visible signs of alleged abuse to whomever is overseeing his or her ministry immediately. Please note, it can be very easy to second guess whether to share something of this nature but is always better and desired that volunteers overshare to make sure there is clarity, knowing there is wisdom and strength in numbers. Always trust your gut and if in doubt, tell a ministry lead.

The ministry lead will then contact the staff or elder overseeing their ministry to begin the reporting process and that staff or elder along with the help of the ministry lead and/or volunteer will assure the safety and protection of the child(ren) who may have been harmed. We will not confront the accused until the safety of the child or student is secured.

From that consensus, once a determination is made that abuse has occurred or may have occurred, we will immediately notify the parents or guardian. If the parent or guardian is under suspicion, we will call DCFS first. We will also determine what other numbers should be called as shown at the end of this section. If the child is in imminent danger, 911 will be called.

If the accused serves in ministry at BCC, they will be relieved of their roles until all investigations are concluded and the accused is cleared of wrong doing.

It is appropriate to show concern and offer comfort for the alleged victim as necessary. This should be the objective from the moment the allegation is received. We will extend whatever resources are available to the alleged victim, the accused, and their families. The staff, elders, ministry leads, and volunteer should not allow themselves to be drawn into discussions of the truth or falsehood of the allegation, or assign blame, or take any steps to establish or negate the allegation. This could compromise or jeopardize official investigations.

The privacy and confidentiality of all involved will be of primary concern.

Only the official spokesman of Bethany Community Church should comment to media about the situation, including but not limited to: underlying facts, allegations, litigation (or threat of litigation), or related proceedings, and that only after consultation with legal counsel. The Senior

Pastor or his designee in consultation with the elders will determine when and what to state publicly.

Important Telephone Numbers:

- Washington Police Department –309-444-2313
- IL Dept. DCFS -1-800-25- ABUSE (252-2873)
- National Child Abuse Hotline –1- 800-4-A-CHILD

# **General Emergency Guidelines**

- 1. Remain calm and communicate a calm, supportive attitude to the ill or injured individual.
- 2. Never leave an ill or injured individual unattended. Have someone else call a parent/Rescue Squad.
- 3. Do not move an injured individual or allow the person to walk (bring help and supplies to the individual). Other responsible adults should be enlisted to help clear the area of students who may congregate following an injury/altercation.
- 4. If trained and if necessary, institute CPR.
- 5. Have Rescue Squad called immediately if there is:
  - Breathing problem
  - Bleeding-severe
  - Anaphylactic reaction (shock)
  - Burns (serious or covering large area)
  - Head, neck, or back injury
  - Concern about heart problem
  - Poisoning
  - Unconsciousness
  - Seizures
  - Serious limb injury
  - Penetrating injury
  - Foreign object in throat
- 6. Do not become involved in using treatment methods beyond your skill. Recognize the limits of your competence. Perform procedures only within your scope of practice. When in doubt, call the Rescue Squad.

### **First Aid Procedures**

#### **NOSE BLEEDS**

- 1. Wear gloves. Use Standard Precautions (see Standard Precautions).
- 2. Keep individual slightly leaning forward and breathing through the mouth.
- 3. Loosen anything tight around the neck.
- 4. Pinch the sides of the nose against the septum (bone in center of nose) for at least 5-10 minutes to allow a clot to form.
- 5. Tell individual not to blow nose or sniff for 1-2 hours in order to prevent dislodging the clot.
- 6. If bleeding does not stop in 5-10 minutes or individual has frequent episodes, repeat pressure to septum (#4).

7. Call parent if bleeding does not stop.

### **VOMITING**

- 1. Wear gloves. Use Standard Precautions (see Standard Precautions for Handling Blood/Body Fluids section).
- 2. Do not give anything to eat or drink.
- 3. When vomiting stops, position individual comfortably.
- 4. Call parent.

#### **WOUNDS**

- Cuts/Superficial Abrasion
- 1. Determine cause of injury.
- 2. Wear gloves. Use Standard Precautions (see Standard Precautions).
- 3. Cleanse thoroughly with soap and water. Do not use hydrogen peroxide, alcohol, or other disinfectant.
- 4. Apply dry dressing (preferably sterile).
- Deep/Extensive Laceration
- 1. Determine cause of injury.
- 2. Wear gloves. Use Standard Precautions (see Standard Precautions).
- 3. Control bleeding by covering with gauze dressing (preferably sterile) and applying direct pressure.
- 4. If necessary, apply more dressings. Do not remove original dressing.
- 5. If no fracture is suspected, elevate the extremity above the level of the heart to help stop bleeding.
- 6. Call parent or call 911.

### **SPLINTERS**

- 1. Wear gloves. Use Standard Precautions (see Standard Precautions).
- 2. Cleanse thoroughly with soap and water.
- 3. Inspect to determine depth.
- 4. If protruding from skin, grasp portion protruding above the skin and attempt to gently remove with tweezers. Do not probe under the skin with tweezers or other object.

#### **EARACHE**

- 1. Wear gloves. Use Standard Precautions (see Standard Precautions).
- 2. If discharge is present, wipe from outer ear only.
- 3. Call parent.

#### **BLISTERS**

- 1. Wear gloves. Use Standard Precautions (see Standard Precautions).
- 2. Cleanse area with soap and water. Avoid breaking blister.
- 3. Apply a dry bandage.
- 4. If blister is broken, wash with soap and water and apply dry bandage.
- 5. If blistered area is red, swollen, and/or painful, call parent and recommend follow-up medical care.

#### **HUMAN BITE**

- 1. Wear gloves. Use Standard Precautions (see Standard Precautions).
- 2. Cleanse wound thoroughly with soap and water for 5 minutes.
- 3. Cover wound with clean bandage (preferably sterile).
- 4. Call parent.

### **BEE and WASP STINGS**

- NOTE: Individuals with known allergy should have an Emergency Care Plan.

# Signs and Symptoms:

- Local Reaction
  - Intense pain
  - A whitish bump with a red dot in its center
  - Swelling at the site of the sting
- Anaphylactic Reaction
  - Apprehension
  - Rash (particularly on face)
  - Swelling of face and tongue

- o Difficulty breathing, wheezing, and gurgling
- o Skin feels moist and/or appears flushed, pale or bluish
- o Rapid, weak pulse

# Treatment:

- 1. If necessary, call 911.
- 2. If individual is known to have allergies to bee/wasp stings, consult the written emergency action plan on file.
- 3. Remove stinger as quickly as possible.
- 4. Apply cold compress to reduce pain and swelling.
- 5. If the sting is on the arm or leg, keep extremity below the level of the heart.
- 6. Call Poison Center for additional treatment advice. (800-222-1222)
- 7. Call parent.

# **Standard Precautions for Handling Blood/Body Fluids**

Anticipating potential contact with infectious materials in routine and emergency situations is the most important step in preventing exposure to and transmission of infections. Precautions should be observed when caring for bleeding injuries or handling other body fluids in emergency situations. Body fluids include blood, drainage from cuts, scabs, skin lesions, urine, feces, vomit, nasal discharge, and saliva. The body fluids of all persons should be considered to be potentially hazardous.

- Separate the injured child from the other children. Isolate the area where blood/body fluids may have dropped on carpets, equipment, etc.
- Check to ensure that no other children had contact with any of the blood/body fluids from the injury.
- Avoid direct contact with body fluids. Caregivers who anticipate assisting in first aid when body fluids are present should use disposable gloves.
- If unanticipated skin contact occurs, hands and all other affected skin should be washed with soap and running water as soon as possible.
- Diligent and proper hand washing, the use of barriers (e.g., gloves), appropriate disposal of waste products, and proper clean up are essential techniques of infection control.
- If it is necessary to perform rescue breathing, a one-way mask or other infection control barrier should be used. However, rescue breathing should not be delayed while such a device is located.

### HAND WASHING PROCEDURE

- 1. Wet hands with clean, running water.
- 2. Apply soap and lather hands.
- Scrub for at least 20 seconds before rinsing with running water.
- 4. Dry hands with a clean towel.

# **GLOVES**

- 1. Gloves should be worn when direct care may involve contact with any type of body fluid.
- 2. Disposable single-use gloves (e.g., latex or vinyl) should be used.
- 3. Do not reuse gloves.

### **DISPOSAL OF INFECTIOUS WASTE**

1. All used or contaminated supplies (e.g., gloves and other barriers, sanitary napkins,

bandages) should be placed into a plastic bag and sealed. This bag can be thrown into the garbage out of reach of children.

2. Body waste (e.g., urine, vomit, feces) should be disposed of in the toilet. If body fluids (e.g., urine, vomit) are spilled, the body fluids should be covered with an absorbent sanitary material, gently swept up, and discarded in plastic bags.

### **CLEAN UP**

- 1. Spills of blood and body fluids should be cleaned up immediately with an approved disinfectant cleaner.
- 2. Wear gloves.
- 3. Mop up spill with absorbent material.
- 4. Wash the area well, using the disinfectant cleaner or a 1:10 water/bleach solution. (Mix 1 part household bleach in 10 parts of water)
- 5. Dispose of gloves, soiled towels, and other waste in sealed plastic bags and place in garbage.

### **Emergency Scenarios and Procedures at Bethany Community Church**

### **Lightning Storms**

• A leader will make the determination of the need to seek protection. Go to an interior room away from windows.

#### Tornadoes

- In the event of severe weather, a leader will implement the Bad Weather Plan. Check the signs in your classroom for instructions of where to go.
- The leaders will then assist people in moving to the designated safe area in a calm and orderly manner.
- Once there, the leaders will do a head count to ensure that all people are accounted for and taken care of properly.
- Everyone is asked to remain in the designated safe area until the Leadership Team determines it is safe to return to regular activities.

#### Fire

- Acquaint yourself with the evacuation route for your classroom. Exit through the closest door. Take children down the sidewalk and away from the building.
- Before evacuating, count the number of children in your class. Compare it to the attendance sheet and take it with you.
- Evacuate to the sidewalk outside the building. Upon arrival, take a head count to ensure all your children are with you.
- Await further instructions from the Children's Ministry Coordinator or BCC staff.
- First Aid will be brought to you as needed. Do not leave your group to obtain First Aid.
- Remain calm, which will help keep your children calm.
- Release children only to their parents and only after you have marked them off your attendance sheet. Do not dismiss any children to go on their own.

### Earthquake

- If indoors, get under strong tables or desks.
- If sturdy objects are not available, move next to interior walls without windows and sit down against the wall.
- With knees bent up, fold your head down and wrap your hands over the back of your

head and stay there until the shaking stops.

- If outdoors, move away from buildings, utility wires, sinkholes, and fuel and gas lines.
   (The greatest danger from falling debris is just outside doorways and close to outer walls)
- Once in the open, get down low (to avoid being knocked down by strong shaking) and stay there until the shaking stops.

#### **Active Shooter**

- Follow the A.L.I.C.E. Plan
  - Note: The points do not have to be done in any particular order
  - https://www.alicetraining.com/
  - Alert pay attention to your surroundings and inform leaders of anything that seems off immediately
  - Lockdown barricade the door with any objects accessible, but especially the supplied mechanisms in each class room and stay out of line of site and silent while holding it in place
    - Note: All doors will remain locked and left cracked open to allow for easy closure should the need arise
  - Inform tell others what you know about the shooter(s), numbers, and their location(s)
  - Counter use anything available to attack and swarm the shooter seeking to restrain and remove the weapon
  - Evacuate when safe, get everyone outside and as far away from area as possible

### **Bomb Threat**

- Upon receiving threat of a bomb in a BCC building, the ministry leader will be notified immediately and will start a calm and orderly evacuation.
- Acquaint yourself with the evacuation route for your classroom. Exit through the closest door. Take children away from the building.
- Before evacuating, count the number of children in your class. Compare it to the attendance sheet and take it with you.
- Evacuate to the northwest corner of the property by the cross behind the Farmhouse.

Upon arrival, take a head count to ensure all your children are with you.

- Await further instructions from the Children's Ministry Coordinator or BCC staff.
- First Aid will be brought to you as needed. Do not leave your group to obtain First Aid.
- Remain calm, which will help keep your children calm.
- Release children only to their parents and only after you have marked them off your attendance sheet. Do not dismiss any children to go on their own.

### **Emergency Scenarios and Procedures at the Farmhouse**

### **Lightning Storms**

• A leader will make the determination of the need to seek protection. An announcement will be made that all people should seek protective shelter in a building.

#### Tornadoes

- In the event of severe weather, the leaders will be notified to implement the Bad Weather Plan. A siren will sound with two continuous rings and an announcement will be made.
- The leaders will then assist people in moving to the designated safe area (The Youth House basement or Farmhouse Basement) in a calm and orderly manner.
- Once there, the leaders will do a head count to ensure that all people are accounted for and taken care of properly.
- Everyone is asked to remain in the designated safe area until the Leadership Team determines it is safe to return to regular activities.

#### Fire

- Get yourself out of danger as fast as possible.
- After it is determined that you are out of immediate danger, notify a member of the Leadership Team.
- A member of the Leadership Team will call the Fire Department and provide information regarding the size and location of the fire.
- The bell will be rung continually along with an announcement that all people are to report to the northwest corner of the property by the cross behind the Farmhouse.
- After gathering at the cross area, the leaders will do a head count to ensure all people are accounted for.
- The Leadership Team will position someone at the Farmhouse entrance in order to direct the Fire Department to the immediate scene.
- Keep all roads open to allow emergency vehicles to maneuver.

### Earthquake

• See the above "Earthquake" guidelines under the "At Bethany Community Church" section.

### **Active Shooter**

• See the above "Active Shooter" guidelines under the "At Bethany Community Church" section.

# **Bomb Threat**

See the above "Bomb Threat" guidelines under the "At Bethany Community Church" section BUT instead, evacuate to the parking lot in front of the church buildin